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A IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Ezekial Watkins, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this 

Court to accept review of the Comi of Appeals decision tenninating 

review designated below, pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(l) and RAP 13.4(b). 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Watkins seeks review of the Comi of Appeals decision 

dated December 11, 2017, for which reconsideration was denied on 

January 31, 2018, copies of which are attached as Appendix A and B. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Ezckial \Vatkins is a young man vvhose significant neurological 

defects give him cognitive abilities at the level of a nine-year-old. The 

police obtained a statement from him using suggestive, deliberate 

interview tactics that many police departments condemn. The hours­

long statement extracted by police was central evidence to convince the 

jury of his culpability for the charged crime. 

1. A waiver of MirandaError! Bookmark not defined. rights 

must be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Mr. Watkins has a nine­

year-old child's cognitive ability and is paiiicularly suggestible. Police 

detectives held in him a small interview room and deliberately used 

coercive teclmiques to obtain a confession. The trial comi disliked the 
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police techniques but found no case law condemning these tactics. 

Should this Court review the propriety of this interview process as a 

violation of the protections required by Miranda and a matter of 

substantial public interest? 

2. Deliberately burying Miranda warnings in the middle of an 

inten-ogation undennines their effectiveness and violates their purpose, 

as the United States Supreme Court held in Missouri v. Seibert, 542 

U.S. 600, 124 S.Ct. 260 1, 159 L.Ed.2d 643 (2004). Detectives 

purposefully withheld Miranda warnings from Mr. Watkins until thier 

lengthy interrogation process elicited his admissions to criminal 

offenses, then they minimized the rights and continued questioning 

without a break. Did the police undermine the Miranda warnings by an 

intentional two-step interview process, contrary to Seibert? This Court 

has never addressed Seibert to guide courts when police deliberately 

delay Miranda warnings. The Comt of Appeals relied on a pre-Seibert 

case. Does substantial public interest favor review? 

3. A search waiTant authorizes taking only specified items for 

which the police have established probable cause to seize. The wan-ant 

to search Mr. Watkins' home allowed the police to gather "any other 

items" at the detective's discretion. Was this catchall wan-ant overbroad 
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and contrary to the paiticularity requirements of the Fomth Amendment 

and aiticle I, section 7? 

4. A comt may only remove a seated juror during trial due to a 

juror's bias or inability to serve. Over defense objection, the comt 

struck a seated juror who asked for a sh01t break to check on his injured 

mother during a months-long trial, an accommodation the comt made 

for itself and others. The comt removed the juror even though the likely 

delay was minor and would not have impacted the trial. Did the comt 

improperly remove a selected and sworn juror without just cause, 

contrary to this Comt's precedent? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Ezekial Watkins is a young man who is "substantially impaired 

cognitively." CP 187. Neurological expe1t Dr. Richard Adler found 

"significant" and "abnom1al" frontal lobe deficits and had never seen a 

more "negatively affected" brain imaging sca11 than Mr. Watkins 's. 

2/25/lSRP 3142; CP 180. 

Based on rep01ts to police that Mr. Watkins killed his former 

girlfriend, police detectives deliberately an-anged an interview room 

under the protocol of the Reid inten-ogation method to question him at 

length. 1/14/17RP 17; Opening Brief at 14-19, 23-25. The detectives 
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withheld Miranda warnings until after they secured a confession, telling 

him his story "didn't make sense" and this was his "opportunity" to be 

truthful and continued to press for more details. CP 258-59. Only after 

getting an actual confession to involvement in causing her death, as 

well as admissions he buried her body, they gave Miranda warnings. 

CP 263. But the detective told Mr. Watkins with warnings was given, 

"just so you know," took no break to highlight the decision-making 

required by Miranda, and instead told Mr. Watkins they would 

"continue" to talk about the incident. CP 263. 

At trial, Mr. Watkins presented bis diminished capacity and his 

belief he was acting in reasonable self-defense, based on how he 

perceived events. CP 685, 699; 3/3/15RP 3318, 3637-38. He was 

convicted of the most serious charge, first degree murder. CP 711. 

Pe1tinent facts are contained in the argument sections herein as 

well as the Opening Brief of Appellant. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. The police circumvented protections for suspects with 
substantial cognitive deficits who are readily 
manipulated by police. This Court should grant review. 

The prosecution has a heavy burden to prove an accused person 

knowingly and voluntarily waived his Miranda rights. Miranda v. 
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Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 475, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). It 

must show a suspect was aware of "the nature of the right being 

abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it." Moran 

v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 , 106 S.Ct. 1135, 89 L.Ed.2d 410 (1986). 

Detem1ining whether a suspect knowingly and intelligently 

waived his right to remain silent depends on the suspect's subjective 

level of understanding. North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 374, 99 

S.Ct. 1755, 60 L.Ed.2d 286 (1979). "A defendant 's mental capacity 

directly bears upon the question whether he understood the meaning of 

his Miranda rights and the significance of waiving his constitutional 

rights." United States v. Garibay , 143 F.3d 534, 538 (9th Cir. 1998). 

To assess the voluntariness of a statement obtained by the 

police, the court must weigh the tactics and setting of the inte1Togation 

alongside any paiiicular vulnerabilities of the suspect. Schneckloth v. 

Bustamante, 412 U.S. 218,226, 93 S.Ct. 2041 , 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973). 

Relevant factors include the suspect's age, low intelligence, and 

educational deficits. Id. The comi must also consider the lack of advice 

ofto the suspect of his constitutional rights and the person' s familiarity 

with the criminal justice system. Id. 
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In juveniles, evaluating the totality of the circumstances 

"includes evaluation of the juvenile's age, experience, education, 

background, and intelligence, and into whether he has the capacity to 

understand the warnings given him, the nature of his Fifth Amendment 

rights, and the consequences of waiving those rights." Fare v. Michael 

C., 442 U.S. 707, 725, 99 S.Ct. 2560, 61 L.Ed.2d 197 (1979). The 

Supreme Court has made clear that juvenile confessions induced by 

police call for "special care" in evaluating voluntariness. See JD.B. v. 

North Carolina, 564 U.S. 261, 277, 131 S.Ct. 2394, 180 L.Ed.2d 310 

(201 1); Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 596, 599, 68 S.Ct. 302, 92 L.Ed.2d 224 

(1948). 

The "fundamental differences" between the brains of young 

people and adults do not disappear when a minor becomes an adult. 

State v. 0 'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680,692,358 P.3d 359 (2015). A young 

adult who has not reached fu ll neurological maturity is likely to be less 

able to make reasonable, intelligent choices such as made by a 

reasonable adult. Id. at 692-93. Although Mr. Watkins was a young 

adult when questioned by police, he bad numerous deficits in his 

cognitive functioning and was like a six to nine year old in his 

comprehension. 1/15/15RP 258, 262. 
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The voluntariness inqui1y requires a full consideration of the 

compounding influence of the police techniques "as applied 

to this suspect." Miller v. Fenton, 474 U.S. 104, 116, 106 S.Ct. 445, 88 

L.Ed.2d 405 (1985) (emphasis in original). 

This Court should grant review to address the necessaiy inqui1y 

into whether Mr. Watkin's statement to police was properly obtained 

voluntarily and consistent with his constitutional rights under the Fifth 

Amendment and the protections of aiiicle I, section 9. 

2. This Court should address the constitutional implications 
of deliberately delayed Miranda warnings used to extract 
a confession from a substantiallj' impaired suspect in an 
hours-long police station interview. 

Custodial interrogation must be preceded by Miranda warnings 

for a statement to be admissible at trial. Determining whether a police 

interrogation is custodial rests on the totality of circumstances. 

Thompson v. Keohane, 516 U.S. 99, 112 & n.11 , 116 S.Ct. 457, 133 

L.Ed.2d 383 (1995). The Comi of Appeals placed undue weight on the 

single comment made to Mr. Watkins that the police told him one time 

that he "was free to leave" at the staii of the station house questioning 

to conclude the lengthy interrogation by two detectives in a closed 

room was not custodial. It also cast aside the deliberate delay of 
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Miranda warnings as not an "infrequent" tactic, contrary to the 

Supreme Court's criticism of this very practice in Seibert. 

a. Questioning a person for hours in a police interview 
room to extract his involvement in causing a death is 
custodial. 

In a case with circumstances, the Third Circuit ruled police 

questioning was custodial. United States v. Jacobs, 431 F.3d 99 (3rd Cir. 

2005). In Jacobs, the police told the suspect he was free to leave, but 

there was not "pro or con" in the custodial analysis because the police 

said nothing more about it. 431 F.3d at 106. In fact, Jacobs was free to 

leave and she left "without hindrance." Id. It is also relevant whether 

the person is told he did not need to answer questions, and Mr. Watkins 

was not told this. See Morton v. United States, 125 A.3d 683, 690 (D.C. 

2015) ( custodial nature of inteITogation includes whether police say do 

not "have to answer questions posed by the police"). 

Instead of giving outsized weight to one comment at the staii of 

the interview, Jacobs emphasized three critical factors for comis to 

weigh in determining whether a person is in custody that the Comi of 

Appeals disregarded. First, "station house interrogations" are far more 

likely to induce the psychological compulsion and pressure to answer 

questions associated with custody. 431 F.3d at 105. Second, the court 
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considers what the interrogating police knew about the suspect's 

culpability, because if the police have evidence against the suspect, it 

tends to create "the kind of atmosphere of significant restraint that 

triggers Miranda and vice versa ." Id. The third factor is whether the 

police conveyed to the suspect by word or deed their belief in the 

person's guilt. Id. 

For Mr. Watkins, these factors demonstrate custodial 

interrogation. First, he was questioned in a small closed police room 

sunounded by two officers, which is "most apt" to create psychological 

compulsion and police intimidation. Id. He was told once, at the start, 

he could leave, but he would have to travel through a police station and 

out a door that was locked when he entered. Slip op. at 7. He was not 

told he did not have to answer questions, but rather told the police knew 

his was lying. See Ex. 60 at 44("1 know answers to questions before I 

ask them ... I'm giving you an opp01iunity to be trnthful with me."); 

see also Ex. 60 at 26, 31-32, 43, 44 (similarly requesting "the trnth"). 

Second, the inten-ogating police already intended to anest Mr. 

Watkins and this pre-existing inculpatory informat ion detennined their 

interview tactics, indicating custodial inten ogation. Jacobs, 431 F.3d at 

105. Third, the police told Mr. Watkins they knew he was lying, 
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displaying phone records from the incident and a shovel like the one 

used to bury Ms. Chou. No one would feel free to leave. 431 F.3d at 

105-06. 

Mr. Watkins' situation is far different from Oregon v. 

Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 97 S.Ct. 7 11 , 50 L.Ed.2d 714 (1977), the 

case on which the Court of Appeals drew a false parallel when in fact, 

Mathiason demonstrates the custodial nature of Mr. Watkin's 

interrogation. In Mathiason, a parolee agreed to speak with an officer at 

the stationhouse. Id. at 493. Within a mere five minutes of entering the 

station, he \Vas told he was not under an-est, asked to tell the truth, and 

he confessed. Id. 

The Mathiason Court deemed this inteITogation non-custodial 

because it was brief, the defendant was told he was not under a1Test and 

he was not in fact aITested, and he came voluntarily. Id. at 494. 

There are constitutionally critical differences between 

Mathiason and Mr. Watkins' s case, demonstrating the Court of Appeals 

decision conflicts with it. Unlike the key factor of Mathiason's brief 

interview, five minutes from sta1i of contact to confession, police 

pressed Mr. Watkins for almost two hours before the comi deemed the 

interview "custodial" and he received Miranda warnings. 1/14/1 SRP 
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17-149. For nearly two hours, they pressed Mr. Watkins for details, 

continually told Mr. Watkins he had to stop lying, and got him to admit 

he illegally buried a dead body all before Miranda warnings. CP 230-

249. Two or more detectives sat close to Mr. Watkins and questioned 

him, unlike the single officer in Mathiason. 1 /14/1 SRP 11 ; Ex. 60 at 1. 

The police never told Mr. Watkins he would not be aiTested, unlike 

Mathiason. And Mr. Mathiason did not lack intellectual skills and was 

not completely inexperienced with being accused of a crime, as was Mr. 

Watkins who had never been arrested before. 

Not only was Iv1r. Watkins hampered in his decision-making 

skills by having the intellectual ability of a young child, the police used 

the Reid Inten-ogation method which even the trial court disliked. 

129/16RP 108. This tactic relies heavily on false evidence ploys and 

deceit to elicit a confession, leading to wrongful convictions. The 

Marshall Project, The Seismic Change in Police Interrogations (Mar. 7, 

2017), available at: https://www.themarshallproject.org/20 l 7 /03/07 /the­

seismic-change-in-police-interrogations#.rC9thbbFa (last viewed Mar. 

2, 2018). 

The trial court disliked the Reid technique used, but found no 

cases deeming it illegal. 1/29/lSRP 108, CP 627. 
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Mr. Watbns' inten-ogation became custodial, if not at the outset 

than at least far before close to two hours passed while he was pressed 

to tell the truth and told he was not doing so. No reasonable person in 

Mr. Watkins' shows would have believed he was free to leave. This 

Comi should grant review of the methods used to extract a confession 

without Miranda warnings. 

b. This Court should address the deliberate delay of 
Miranda warnings until after extracting adniissions of 
criniinal acts in a long and pulposeful interview. 

The police deliberately withheld Miranda warnings until Mr. 

Watkins confessed to being involved in causing }.1s. Chou's death, 

downplayed those warnings, and never gave Mr. Watkins any break to 

consider the impmi of the warnings. This tactic was condemned in 

Seibert, 542 U.S. at 608, 613. 

Seibert, however, is a plurality opinion where the combination 

of the four justice majority and concurring opinion amounts to a 

majority on the notion that delayed warnings are constitutionally 

suspect but without clear guidance on the rule courts should follow. 

Seibert. 542 U.S. at 617 (plurality); Id. at 622 (Kennedy, J. 

concun-ing.). This ambiguity favors review by this Comito dete1111ine 

the test our comis should apply. 
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The Comi of Appeals' reason for distinguishing Seibert here -

that it was not " infrequent" for people to be inteITogated for two hours, 

confess, and then receive Miranda warnings - does not adequately 

address this critical issue. Slip op. at 11. There is no debate that the 

police deliberately delayed Miranda during a lengthy interview for the 

purpose of obtaining a confession prior to giving Mr. Watkins notice of 

his rights to remain silent and receive the assistance of counsel. This 

was a purposefully devised interview process where Miranda warnings 

were consciously offered only after Mr. Watkins confessed and only 

then in a way that made it appear tv'Ir. V✓atkins had little choice or 

reason to not repeat his admissions and elaborate upon them. This 

scenario is precisely what Seibert expressed as an improper mechanism 

for undem1ining the protections of Miranda. 

The Court of Appeals also confused the legal analysis required 

for a dynamic inteITogation that grows increasingly custodial. It 

summarily states that because the defendant in Seibert was arrested at 

the outset but Mr. Watkins was not, Mr. Watkins was not subjected to 

custodial inten-ogation. Slip op. at 11 . 

But no cases demand an outright fom1al an-est for Seibert to 

apply. This analysis ignores the progressively custodial nature of the 
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inten-ogation. Even if not custodial at the staii like Seibert, the police 

obtained a confession to a lesser crime before giving Miranda 

warnings, which created a situation in which Mr. Watkins was being 

inten-ogated after supplying the police with a basis to aITest him. Ex. 60 

at 4 7-45 ; Opening Brief at 19. 

The Corni of Appeals also relied on State v. Lorenz, 152 Wn.2d 

22, 37, 93 P.3d 133 (2004), but that case is not only factually different, 

stemming from person's statement written at her own home where the 

police had grounds to aITest her, it was decided before Seibert. This 

Comi has not issued any decisions addressing this question-first 

scenario that was criticized in Seibert. 

Seibert dictates the question-first tactics unde1mined the 

voluntariness of these belatedly given Miranda warnings. This comi 

should grant review. 

3. The police unlawfully seized private property from Mr. 
Watkins' home pursuant to an overbroad search 
warrant. 

a. A warrant must particularly state the items to be seized. 

Under the Fourth Amendment's paiiicularity requirement, a 

search waiTant must demonstrate probable cause to search the place and 

seize the items described, and it "must describe the items to be seized 
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with particularity." State v. Besola, 184 Wn.2d 605, 609,359 P.3d 799 

(2015); see Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 459, 131 S.Ct. 1849, 179 

L.Ed.2d 865 (2011); U.S. Const. amend. 4; Const. mi. I,§ 7. 

b. The i,varrant 's generalized authorization to seize anything 
deemed relevant during the intrusion of the home violates 
the particularity requirement. 

The police obtained wa1Tants to search Mr. Watkins' cmTent 

apaiiment and his parent's home "for evidence of the crime of Murder 

including but not limited to" specified items connected to the offense. 

CP 409. The warrant described specific items, such as "knife (Camo 

handle, black bladed), folding knife around 4" blade, came hoody, 

dominion and control documents, tan boots ... [and] black t-shi1is with 

writing on them ( one should have the name Ezekiel in Roman lettering 

across it)." CP 409. But it also said the police may take "any other item 

that Detectives reasonably believe may be associated with this crime." 

Id. 

The authority to seize "any other item" gave the police general 

pe1111ission to rummage through all prope1iy to locate any item of 

interest, at the detectives' discretion. The wan-ant already explicitly 

listed the items the police had a reasoned basis to believe were 

associated with the offense and located in the home, such as the weapon 
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used and clothes worn. Consequently, the catchall "any other item" 

pem1itted police to seek out anything else that they did not have a basis 

to suspect it might be in the home or probable cause that it was 

connected to the crime. 

Acting under this broad permission to take anything else they 

wished, the police went through all of Mr. Watkins' possessions and 

took far more than the wan-ant particularly described. They seized 

multiple journals, poems, a calendar, and writings that they used at trial. 

See 2/1 l /15RP 2239-58, 2373-75; 3/12/15RP 4181 ; CP 65-68; Exs. 15, 

18,20,22,23,24,25,26,27,28 , 34. 

This broad authority is prohibited by the particularity 

requirement. It does not adequately protect individual property rights 

and authorizes an impem1issibly wide-reaching search of a person's 

home. See, e.g., State v. Garcia, 140 Wn.App. 609, 622, 166 P.3d 848 

(2007) (invalidating wmi-ant that allowed search of "any and all" 

persons present as generalized suspicion that "violated the Fomih 

Amendment's requirement of pmiicularity"). This Comi should grant 

review. 
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4. The court improperly excused a sitting and 
qualified juror, over defense objection, based on a 
minor expediency concern in the middle of trial. 

The state and federal constitutions protect an accused person's 

right to paiiicipate in the selection of a jury and to receive a fair trial by 

that selected jury. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 85, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 

90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986); State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 884-85, 246 P.3d 

796 (2011), U.S. Const. amends. 6, 14; Const. art. I, section 22. Even 

more protective than the federal constitution, Washington expressly 

guarantees the inviolate right to a 12-person jury and unanimous verdict 

in a criminal prosecution. Irby, 170 \X/n.2d at 884; State v. Williams-

Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 896 n.2, 225 P.3d 913 (2010) ("greater 

protection" for jury trial rights under article I, sections 21 and 22 than 

federal constitution). 

CrR 6.5 allows a comi to excuse a juror only after it has "found" 

the person is "unable to perform the duties" of a juror. Under RCW 

2.36.110, the comi shall excuse a juror if she has "manifested unfitness 

as a juror by reason of bias, prejudice, indifference, inattention, or any 

physical or mental defect or by reason of conduct or practices 

incompatible with proper and efficient jury service." 
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The comi must err on the side of caution by protecting the 

defendant's constitutional right to ensure that a juror is not dismissed 

for his views of the evidence. State v. Depaz, 165 Wn.2d 842, 854,204 

P .3d 217 (2009). The court abuses its discretion if its decision to 

dismiss a juror stems from using the wrong evidentiaiy standard. State 

v. Elm.ore, 155 Wn.2d 758, 778, 123 P.3d 72 (2005) ("once the proper 

evidentiary standard is applied, the trial comi's evaluation of the facts is 

reviewable only for abuse of discretion"). In Ebnore, the comi failed to 

apply a heightened evidentiary standard when weighing conflicting 

evidence about whether a juror was participating in deliberations or was 

refusing to do so. Id. at 779. Because the comi had not applied the 

co1Tect evidentiaiy standard, the Supreme Comi held that the trial comi 

had improperly dismissed the juror. Id. at 780. 

Near the end of the State's case-in-chief, Juror 13 learned his 

mother had gone to the hospital due to a fractured bone in her ann. 

2/23/l 5RP 2892-93. He asked to leave two hours early to be sure his 

mother's insurance paperwork and medications were properly relayed 

to the hospital. See 2/23/15RP 2894 ( comi noted there were two hours 

and twenty minutes left in day). 
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Juror 13 's mother lived in a managed care facility. Id. at 2892-

93. He hoped to miss only the rest of the afternoon in comi so he could 

verify her insurance information with medical providers. Id. at 2891. 

This hospital was five miles from the Kent cou1ihouse, and Juror 13 

said he "should be available again tomonow." Id. at 2892. 

The judge had adjourned early or adjusted the calendar a 

number of times, for himself, witnesses, and other jurors, including that 

very morning. Id. at 2876. But the comi refused to let Juror 13 check 

his mother's hospital admission and return, over defense objection. 

On this day of trial, no live ,vitnesses were testifying; the 

evidence consisted of playing a lengthy videotape of Mr. Watkins' 

statement to the police. Id. at 2881. 

Defense counsel offered to adjust its questioning of witnesses 

and juggle other witnesses to retain Juror 13. 2/24/15RP 2890, 2895, 

2910. The comi refused this sh01i delay, prefe1Ting to excuse Juror 13 

even though there was a good chance he would be available the next 

day.Id. at2894, 2896. 

In sum, the comi removed Juror 13 because it refused to allow a 

minor trial delay even though the defense offered reasonable scheduling 

acc01mnodations. And the parties knew witness scheduling issues 
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would arise the next day that had nothing to do with Juror 13. By 

striking a seated juror who merely needed a couple of hours for an 

emergency during a long case, when the evidence being presented 

could be rescheduled and the defense offered reasonable alternatives, 

the court acted arbitrarily. 

CrR 6.5 allows the comi to remove only an unfit juror whose 

behavior is "incompatible with proper and efficient jury service." The 

court did not make this finding. The court removed Juror 13 after a 

cursory determination of expediency even though the time saved was 

trivial, alternatives were available, and despite the defense objection. 

The unreasonable removal of the juror requires reversal. This Comi 

should grant review. 

F. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Ezekial Watkins respectfully 

requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). 

DATED this 2nd day of March 2018. 

-::CGlCc 
NANCY P. COLLINS (WSBA 28806) 
Washington Appellate Project (91052) 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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DIVISION ONE 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FILED: December 11, 2017 

APPELWICK, J. -Watkins was convicted of first degree murder. He argues 

that police elicited a confession in violation of Miranda, 1 that evidence was 
. I 

obtained in violation of the 8rivacy act,2 that a s arch warrant was overbroad, and 

~- ' 
that the trial .co~rt imprnpe_rly dismissed a juror. We affirm. 

FACTS 

High school student : Kathy Chou disap eared. Police contacted her ex­

boyfriend, Ezekiel Watkins. ; He spoke with po ice at the police station. Watkins 

also took a polygraph test. He was not arreste , at that time. 
·1 

Over one year later, Watkins' friend Gio anni Candelario told police that he 
. 
' 

had seen Watkins covered in blood and dirt on the night Chou disappeared. 
I 

Candelario also told police that he told Watkins hat he suspected he was involved 

in Chou's disappearance, !and Watkins did 

I 
ot deny it. Another friend, Jon 

Carpenter, told police that :he had given Watl<ins a shovel the night that Chou 

---------: . 
1 Miranda v. Arizona,.384 U.S. 436, 86 S Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). 
2 Ch. 9.73 RCW. ! 

.. ; :· . i.- , . 
, ., , ,-J• .Ji 
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' 

disappeared. In light of these revelations, D tective Greg Barfield called and 

asked Watkins to come to the station for an int rview. They agreed to meet at the 
. ! 

' 
station six days later, on July 6, 2011 , at 11 :00 .m. 

Watkins drove himse
1
lf to the station. Th interview room was located within 
i 

a secure area of the buildinT. The area could bj opened from the inside without a 

key. Watkins sat closest t~ the door. The police did not take his phone or keys. 

He was not handcuffed. I 
: . 
i 

When he began the interview at 11 :24 am., one of Detective Barfield's first 
I 

I 

' statements to Watkins was as follows: 
: 

I 

So before we get st~rted I want to mak sure you understand that 
we're just talking to everybody in the cJ~e. It's new to me cause I 
wasn't involved in it'back when she, w~en Kathy went missing. I 
want you to know th* you are free to go at any time. It's a voluntary 
statement. Matter of fact if you do deci e to do that, if you want to 
leave this door right here, you go out th t door and hang a right and 
that's the door you c~me in at. 

I 

At 11 :55 a._m., Detective Ba;rfield notes that, coltrary to Watkins' prior statements, 

phone records show that they texted and call d one another 46 times that day. 
I 

I 
i 

:!:::~::::::.'.~ins that "18 need to know ev 
I 
rything," and "1'.m asking you to be 

At 12:04 p.m., Watk/n~, eventually concides that he saw Chou that night, 

they took a walk in the park; and finished betw en 9 and 10. At 12:16 p.m., police 
I 

i 
placed a shovel wrapped in evidence tape in the interview room in the view of 

i 
Watkins. At 12:17 p.m., Detective Barfield tells Watkins, "I've given you many 

opportunities to tell me before I had to confr nt you if there's something that's 

different." 

2 
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Shortly thereafter, Watkins tells Detectiie Barfield that Chou cut her own 

throat. Watkins admits that' his friend Carpent r brought a shovel and helped him 
' 

bury her body. Detective Barfield pressed furt er, 

But Ezekiel, I have a hard time believin that she somehow gets a 
hold of your knife and then stabs herse f multiple times in the neck 
and your reaction is to not go to cal the police or call for an 
ambulance but to call your friend, have lim meet you and y_ou guys 
go and bury the body. It doesn't sit righ with me. Right? And I just 
want you to be truthful with me about it Cause yeah I can tell, it's 
pretty easy honestly to tell you when yow're being truthful and when 
you're not being truthful. That's how I k~ow to ask what questions I 
ask because you kind of, for most people honestly it is very hard for 
them to hide a lie on their face and with tleir body. You just do things 
you know subconsciously. You don't re lize you're doing it. But for 
me it's like, it's like a red flag going up when I see it. So I'm just 
asking you to be stra'ight. I'm going to gilve you an opportunity to tell 
me how. ; 

' ! 

At 12:37 p.m., VVatklns admits to stabbing Ch _u, although he claims it occurred 

during a physical struggle b'etween ttie two. 
I 
' -

Immediately thereaft~r, Detective Barfiel reads Watkins his Miranda rights. 
' 

Watkins waived those right~, the interview con inued, and Watkins took police to 
: 

the burial site later that day. Watkins was cha ged with first degree murder. His 
! 

statements that day were admitted into eviden e after a CrR 3.5 hearing. A jury 

found him gui_lty. He appeals. 
I 

DISCUSSION! 

Watkins makes four !ar9uments. First, he argues that the State obtained 

incriminating statements in violation of Miratda, and the trial court erred in 
I 

admitting those statements. Second, he ar ues that the trial court erred in 

admitting evidence that was obtained in violat on of the Washington privacy act. 
I 

I 

I 

3 
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Third, he argues that the trial court admitted ev dence that was obtained pursuant 

to an overbroad search warrant. Finally, he rgues that the trial court erred in 

dismissing a juror due to a family emergency.3 

I 

I. Miranda 

Watkins first argues
1 

that the police vi l~ted his Fifth Amendment rights 
! 
I 

:~:e;d:ir::::;n:hen :::.:: :::~::~::: ::rb~::::~·n:::a:1 n~::~:~e:~:: 
amounted to a custodial in;errogation and Mir1nda warnings were required. He 
notes that the interview occurred in a small roJm at the police station. He notes 

that the officer told Watkins' that he needed to le truthful. Further, he claims that 

police strategically brought into the intervie I room a piece of evidence-a 

shovel-that suggested that police knew Watki s was not being truthful. 

A Custodial Interrogation 

When a state agent subjects a suspect o custodial interrogation, the Fifth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution r quires that Miranda warnings must 

be given. 384 U.S. at 467-68. If police condu ta custodial interrogation without 

Miranda warnings, stateme~ts. made by the su I pect during the interrogation must 
! 

be suppressed. !sL at 479. fhether a person is in "custody" is an objective inquiry: 

considering _all the circumst,ances, would a rea enable person feel that his or her 

I 

freedom was curtailed to 1a degree associat d with formal arrest? State v. 
I 
I 
I 

3 On cross appeal, the State assigns error to the trial court's decision to 
exclude evidence regarding an alleged "troph " that Watkins collected from the 
victim on grounds that it was overly prejudicial. But, because we affirm, we do not 
address this argument. ' 

4 
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Heritage, 152 Wn.2d 210, ~18, 95 P.3d 345 ( 004). The defendant must show 

some objective facts indicating his or her freed m of movement was restricted or 

' curtailed. State v. Lorenz, 152 Wn.2d 22, 36-3 , 93 P.3d 133 (2004). We review 

a trial court's custodial determination de novo. Id. at 36. 

i 
Watkins argues that he was subject to a custodial interrogation from the 

outset of the interview.4 He'. cites to United Stat s v. Jacobs, 431 F.3d 99, 105 (3d 

Cir. 2005), where the court: reasoned that all s~ation house interrogations should 

be scrutinized with extreme care. Further, h argues that Detective Barfield's 

conduct over the course of the interview creat d a custodial setting by conveying 

his belief that Watkins was guilty, pressin for the truth, and placing the 
I • 
' 

incriminating shovel into Watkins' view. 

The station house interview here is co parable to the facts in Oregon v. 
' i 

Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 97 S. Ct. 711, 50 L. E . 2d 714 (1977). A burglary victim 

told police that Mathiason was the only possib e culprit she could think of. & at 
i 

493. About 25 days after t~e burglary, the offi ,er told Mathiason he would like to 
I 

discuss something. kl Mathiason voluntarily ent to the police station. & He 

4 Watkins first stresses that the trial c urt erred in applying a subjective 
standard to whether Watkins was subject to cu todial interrogation. He notes that, 
in support of its decision, the trial court cited W tkins' belief that he would be able 
to go to work later that afternoon after he had ju t admitted to stabbing and burying . 
Chou. Watkins is correct that the proper standa dis an objective one. See Lorenz, 
152 Wn.2d at 36-37. But, tne trial court's ultim te conclusion was that "[u]nder the 
totalit of the circumstances a reasonable rson in the defendant's osition 
would not have felt that his freedom was cur1tailed." (Emphasis added.) This 
reflects an objective analysis. And, similar t this situation, many prior cases 
contain passing references 1to a suspect's own belief. See, e.g., State v. D.R., 84 
Wn. App. 832, 834, 836, 930 P.2d 350 (1997) ( xplaining that the proper standard 
is a reasonable person standard, but also noti g that the suspect testified that he 
did not believe he was free :to leave). 
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was taken into a room with : a closed door, and told that he was not under arrest. 

' 
~ The .officer told Mathiason that he wanted t , discuss the burglary, and that his 

I 
; 

truthfulness would possibly ;be considered by t e district attorney or the judge. ~ 

The officer falsely claimed that he had discove ed Mathiason's fingerprints at the 

scene. Id. Mathiason confessed after about fi e minutes. Id. 

The United States :Supreme Court folnd that there was no Miranda 

to one in which Miranda [si~] applies simply be ause a reviewing court concludes 

that, even in the absence : of any formal arrest or restraint on movement, the 

questioning took place in a :'coercive environm n~."' ~ Like Mathiason, Watkins 

went voluntarily to the station, was told he could leave, and the police had 
I 

suspicion that Watkins was _involved. 
I 
1 

But, Watkins argues !that this case is m re similar to Jacobs. In that case, 
I 
I 

Jacobs was a police informant. Id. at 102. Police subsequently learned that 
I -

l 

Jacobs was engaging _in illegal activity that viol ted police instructions. ~ at 103. 

Jacobs arrived at the stati~ri upon police requ st. ~ at 103. In an open office 
! 

area, police placed suitca~es that they thought would elicit information from 
i 

' 
Jacobs. ~ With the suitcases in view, the poli e told her that they had information 

: 

that she was assisting in the trafficking. ~ S ortly thereafter, she confessed to 
I 
I 

illegal activity. ~ at 103-0~ 

6 



No. 73352-4-1/7 

I ,. 

The Jacobs court fo~nd that this was a custodial interrogation. !fL. at 108. 

It reasoned, 

To recap, in Jacobs~ case, in addition t (1) the questioning taking 
place at the FBI offices, and (2) Sullivan elieving Jacobs was guilty, 
the following additional factors were present: (3) Jacobs was 
summoned to FBI ! offices without xplanation; (4) Sullivan's 
questions were confrontational and intimidating; (5) he used 
interrogation tactics, 1 including placing t e incriminating suitcases in 
Jacobs' view; (6) he: communicated to acobs that he thought she 
was guilty; (7) Jacobs felt obligated t , come to and stay at the 
questioning because she was reasonably under the impression that 
she was still an FBI informant; (8) she \¼as not specifically told she 
was not under arres~ before questionin~ began; and (9) she did not 
agree to meet wit~ Sullivan with k~owledge of the fact that 
questioning about a criminal offense would take place. 

!fL. ·Although the suitcase placement in Jacods is somewhat comparable to the 

strategic shovel placement; here, Jacobs is cJitically different. There, the court 
I 

noted that Jacobs would ha've felt compelled to speak with police given her status 
I , 

as an informant. !fL. Watki~s was under no such obligation. He had denied police 

requests before.5 And, unl,ike Jacobs, police nequivocally told Watkins that he 

was "free to leave at any tir1:1e." !fL. at 107. 

Watkins also relies on United States v. 1 raighead, 539 F.3d 1073 (9th Cir. 

2008). There, armed oft:icers wearing flak jackets, some with unholstered 

weapons, executed a search warrant on Craighead's residence. !fL. at 1078. 

During the search, an age~t told Craighead t ley wanted to speak with him. !fL. 
I 

And, Craighead was told he was free to leave !fL. at 1078. The agent directed 
i 

him to a storage shed in the back of his hous , and interviewed him for 20 to 30 

' ' 

5 For example, he onice denied a police 
test. A few days later, Watkins changed his 
refusing. 

7 
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I 

minutes. .!!t. at 1078. A detective was guardi g _the door. !fL_ at 1088. Agents 

from three different law enforcement agencie were present for the search. !fL_ 
l 

! 

The court found that the interview was a custo ial interrogation. !fL_ at 1089. 

The distinctions between Craighead and Mathiason are significant. 

Craighead did not voluntaril_y go to a police sta I0n. The police came to his home. 

See id. at 1078. Although ;he was informed h could leave, this instruction was 

less valuable given that he ~as already on his , wn property, and could not retreat 
' I 

to the safety of his own home, which was beinl searched by officers. kl at 1088. 

And, the court found that th~ presence of multi~le agencies suggested that others 
i 

besides the interviewing agent might forbid hi to leave. !fL. 
I 

Lorenz, is also instructive. As Lorenz's residence was being searched as 

part of a child molestation ;investigation, polic pulled her aside and questioned 

: I 
her. Lorenz, 152 Wn.2d at

1 
27. The police toll Lorenz she was not under arrest 

and was free to leave at an~ time, and she signld a statement to that effect. kl at 

37-38. But, she was not allowed to enter her lailer during the search. !fL. at 37. 

The officers then told her to " 'sit here'. " kl _r 27. She confessed in a written 

statement. kl at 27-28. Lorenz argued thats e was effectively in custody for the 
I 

i 
purposes of Miranda. !fL_ a~ 36. The court rea oned that "[i]t is irrelevant whether 

i 

Lorenz was in a coercive environment at the time of the interview." Id. at 37. 
! -

Relying on the explicit instructions that Lorenz was free to leave, the court found 
I 

that Lorenz was not in custody.6 kl at 37-38. 
' 

6 Lorenz contradicts another argument ade by Watkins. During the critical 
interview, Watkins initially confessed to Detec ive Barfield that he buried Chou's 
remains after she had stab.bed herself. Only ater did Watkins finally confess to 

8 
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I 

Here, the police req'uested an intervie . And, similar to Mathiason and 

unlike Craighead, Watkins '-'.Oluntarily showed u at the police station at a mutually 
i 
' 

agreed time. The police told him that he was 'free to leave." They told him how 
i 

to exit the station. Like Mathiason, the fact that he interview occurred in the police 

station setting did not rend~r the interview cus odial. The presence of the shovel 
I • 
I 

wrapped with evidence tape was less deceptiv than the false statement that the 
I 

police had found Mathiason's fin er rints at th scene. This tactic did not make 

the interrogation custodial] In light of thes cases and Miranda's objective 

custodial interrogation prior:to confessing. 
I • 
; 

B. Admissibility of post-Miranda statement 

Watkins' first confes~ion occurred prior t him receiving Miranda warnings. 

After the police read him his Miranda warnings, he confessed again. Watkins 
I 

i 

argues that this is an inte_rrogation strategy hat the Supreme Court declared 
! 

unconstitutional in Missouri: v. Siebert, 542 U. . 600, 124 S. Ct. 2601, 159 L. Ed. 

2d 643 (2004). I 
i 
I 

In Siebert, the police arrested and ulti ately obtained a confession from 

Siebert. kl at 604-05. In their interrogation, th police deliberately refrained from 

stabbing Chou. Watkins argues that because his amounted to a confession of a 
separate crime-unlawful disposal of human r mains under RCW 68.50.130- it 
supports the inference that he was in custody. But, in Lorenz the court rejected a 
similar argument: "it is, as the State contends irrelevant whether the police had 
probable cause to arrest Lorenz (before or du ,ing the interview)." 152 Wn.2d at 
37. Therefore, the fact that police had prob ble cause during the interview to 
believe that Watkins had committed a different crime than that being investigated 
does not establish that he was in custody. 

9 
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providing Miranda warning~ as part of a "ques ion first" strategy. See id. at 605-

06. Writing for the four jus~ices in the plurality Justice Souter reasoned that the 

key inquiry underlying Mira'nda is whether the warnings reasonably convey to a 
! 

suspect his or her rights un~er Miranda: 

i 
Upon hearing warnin'gs only in the after ath of interrogation and just 
after making a confession, a suspect ~ould hardly think he had a 
genuine right to remain silent, let alone persist in so believing once 
the police began to lead him over the s me ground again. A more 
likely reaction on the suspect's part wduld be perplexity about the 
reason for discussing rights at that poiqt . ... Thus, when Miranda 
warnings are inserted in the midst of -~oordinated and continuing 
interrogation, they are likely to mislead apd "depriv[e} a defendant of 
knowledge essential to his ability to uryderstand the nature of his 
rights and the consequences of abandori1ing them." 

Id. at 613-14 (a:eration in rin~I) (~ootnot~ +It~: ~~~'.~g Moran v. Burbine, 

475 U.S. 412, 4~4, 106 S. y1. .17j5, ~9 L. Ea.1a 4_,u ( ,~Bon. 

Justice Kennedy co'ncurred in the jud~ment, and provided the fifth and 

decisive vote to exclude Si~bert's confession. _16. at 618 (Kennedy, J., concurring). 
I 
I 

He reasoned that "[t}he plurality is correct to , onclude that statements obtained 

through the use of this technique are inadmis ible." 19..:. He agreed that "only in 

the infrequent case," such as Siebert, when p lice use a question-first strategy in 

a calculated way, post-Miranda statements mu t be excluded. 19..:. at 622. Adopting 

I 
Justice Kennedy's analysis, this court has easoned that a trial court must 

I : 

suppress postwarning confessions during a deliberate two-step interrogation 
I 

where a midstream Mirandt warning did not e(ctively apprise the suspect of his 

or her rights. State v. Hickman, 157 Wn. App. 7167, 774-75, 238 P.3d 1240 (2010). 

10 
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Siebert was arrested'prior to the first pha e of questioning. 524 U.S. at 604. 
I 

I 

But, Watkins was_ not under arrest and not subj. ct to custodial interrogation when 

he first confessed. Admission of his confes ion was therefore not barred by 

Seibert, as framed in Justice Kennedy's con , urrence, and was surely not the 

"infrequent case" that it contemplates. 

' C. Waiver of Miranda Rights 

Watkins has fetal :alcohol spectrum disorder that causes cognitive 

impairment. Watkins argues that his cognitive disabilities, in conjunction with the 

circumstances, rendered his waiver of his Miran a rights involuntary. After hearing 

his rights, when asked wh~ther he is willing t, continue speaking with Detective 

Barfield, Watkins stated, "I ;guess so." Detect ve Barfield said, "You guess so?" 
i 
' 

and "Is that a yes?" Watkin~ responds, "Yeah.' 

Under Miranda, a confession is volunta , and therefore admissible, if made 
' 

after the defendant has be~n advised of his or her rights, and the defendant then 
I • 

knowingly, voluntarily, and :intelligently waives those rights. State v. Aten, 130 

Wn.2d 640, 663, 927 P.2d 210 (1996). Th voluntariness of a confession is 

' 
determined from a totality of the circumstance under which it was made. ill at 

: 
' 

663-64. Factors considered include a defendar•s physical condition, age, mental 

abilities, physical experienc~, and police conduit. !!L_ at 664. A defendant's mental 

disability is relevant, but does not necessarily r nder a confession involuntary. kl 

When a trial court determines a confession is v , luntary, an appellate court will not 

disturb that finding if it is supported by substa tial evidence from which the trial 

11 
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court could have found that the confession wa voluntary by a preponderance of 

evidence. lg_. 

The State and Watkins each presented expert testimony on whether 

Watkins' waiver of his Miranda rights was kn wing and voluntary in light of his 
i 

cognitive impairment. The State offered testim ny from Dr. Kenneth Muscatel. Dr . 

. ; 
Muscatel opined that, while! Watkins has cogn11 ,ive impairment, he was capable of 

understanding his Miranda rights and abl to knowingly, intelligently, and 
' ! 
' ' 

voluntarily waive them. Ttie trial court concluded t~at Dr. Muscatel's testimony 

was "more persuasive" than Watkins' expert. 

In arguing that the trial court erred, Wat ins cites numerous facts from the 
i 

record showing Watkins' impairment, such as h s low cognitive difficulties. But, Dr. 

Muscatel noted that he was:tracking the conver ation throughout the interrogation, 

which suggested that his waiver was volunt ry. Based on his evaluation, Dr. 
I 

Muscatel testified that he "had no questio about him being competent to 

understand, appreciate, and waive Miranda, if e so chose." Substantial evidence 
i 

. supports the trial court's conclusion that Watki s' waiver of his Miranda rights was 
i 

knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. 

11. Privacy Act 

' 
During the interviews of Watkins, polic used a handheld audio recorder 

i ' 
I 

that Watkins was aware of,· but also recorded atkins via video for a period after 

the handheld audio recorder was turned off.7 atkins argues that the trial court 

7 The State agreed hot to offer these r cordings that were made without 
Watkins' knowledge. 
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should have excluded observations and sum aries of the conversations, and 

. evidence obtained in the !nvestigation that ,temmed from the conversations, 

because the conversations were recorded in vi0lation of the privacy act.8 

If a party violates RCW 9.73.030, which rohibits unconsented recording of 

"private conversations," th~ proper remedy is xclusion, as well as all evidence 

obtained during the conversation. See State v. F'ermestad, 114 Wn.2d 828, 836, 

791 P.2d 897 (1990). By contrast, if a party vi !ates RCW 9.73.090(1)(b), which 
I 

requires officers to inform ·persons being rec rded that they are in fact being 

recorded, the remedy is ~xc,lusion of the re ording only. Lewis v. Dep't of 
; . 

Licensing, 157 Wn.2d 446, _472, 139 P.3d 107 (2006). Whether a conversation 

was private under the privacy ~ct is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. 

!S.i.RQ, 179 Wn.2d 718, 728-~9, 317 P.3d 1029 ( 014). 

In Lewis, our Supreme Court noted that" his court and the Court of Appeals 
! 

have repeatedly held that c~nversations with p lice officers are not private." 157 

Wn.2d at 460. There "is ~o _reasonable exp ctation of privacy for persons in 

custody undergoing custodial interrogations." \d at 467. Watkins' challenge was 

solely to the application of t~e trial court order tb portions of the conversation after 

he confessed, was arrested' and was read his ri hts. Therefore, he was subject to 

custodial interrogation during the entirety of the ecorded conversations.9 Watkins' 

___ _______ ! 

8 The State argues \ hat this argument is waived. But, in his motion to 
exclude, Watkins argued that "violation of the a t requires not only suppression of 
the recordings themselves but of all evidence &erived directly and indirectly as a 
result of that violation." This is sufficient to pre~erve this issue. 

9 Watkins confessed to stabbing Chou t roughly 12:37 p.m. Police read 
him his Miranda rights immediately thereafter. 

I 
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conversations with police h~re were not "privat ." Recording those conversations 
I 

• I 

did not violate the privacy: act. The trial cou did not err in denying Watkins' 

. ' 
request to exclude the evid~nce. 

Ill. Search Warrant 

I 

Police obtained a search warrant for Wa kins' parents' home where he had 

previously resided. The Warr_ant specified ite~s to be seiZed, such as specific 

clothing items, a knife with a camouflage ha~dle, a pick axe, and "[a]ny other 
' 

item .. . that Detectives re~sonably believe m y be associated with this crime." 
' 

The warrant was granted in: response to an affi avit that stated that Watkins killed 

Chou because Chou had b~en harassing Watk ns' new girlfriend. Watkins argues 

that the "any other item" 1 language is over road, and therefore violated the 
! 

requirement that items to b~ seized be describ d with particularity. 

! 

The Fourth Amendm,ent requires that se rch warrants particularly describe 
I 

the place to be searched and the persons or hings to be seized. U.S. CONST. 
I 

' 
amend. IV. Warrants must e·nable the sear her to reasonably ascertain and 

I 

identify the things that are ~uthorized to be se zed. State v. Besola, 184 Wn.2d 

605, 610, 359 P.3d 799 (2015). This court rev ews de novo the issue of whether 

a warrant meets the particu:'arity requirement oJ the Fourth Amendment. State v. 

Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 753, .24 P.3d 1006 ( 001). And, it evaluates search 

' 
warrants in a common sens6, practical manner, rather than using a hypertechnical 

standard. State v. Stenson; 132 Wn.2d 668, 6 2,940 P.2d 1239 (1997). 

14 
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I 

Quoting Marron v. United States, 275 U .. 192, 196, 48 S. Ct. 74, 72 L. Ed. 
! 

231 (1927), Watkins conte~ds that the purpos of the particularity requirement is 
I 

that " 'nothing is left to the discretion of the offi er executing the warrant.' "10 But, 

decisions of this court have reasoned that "grudging and overly technical 

' 
requirement of elaborate specificity has no plac in determining whether a warrant 

satisfies the Fourth AmTndment requirem nt of particularity." State v. 

Christiansen, 40 Wn. App. 249, 254, 698 P.2d 059 (1985). 
! 

In Christiansen, a clause in the warrant directed seizure of" 'all evidence 

and fruits of the crime(s) of manufacturing, d livering, or possessing controlled 

substances.' " kl at 251. : The court found t~at this was· sufficiently particular, 
! 

because the description of the items to be seiz d was confined to the evidence of 

the suspected crime. !fl af 254. This court ca e to a similar conclusion in State 

' 
v. Reid, 38 Wn. App. 203, 212, 687 P.2d 861 ( 984): 

i 

The warrant here : sufficiently limite the searching officers' 
discretion. The phrase "any other vidence of the homicide" 
specifically limited the warrant to the cri e under investigation. The 
specific items listed,· such as a shotgu and shotgun shells, also 
provided guidelines for the officers conducting the search. 
Therefore, these limitations were ade uate to prevent a general 
exploratory search. : 

Similarly here, the warrant limited the scope to items "[d]etectives reasonably 

believe may be associated ~ith this crime." (E phasis added.) 

10 Our Supreme Court has reasoned hat this specific statement, from 
Marron v. United States, 275 U.S. 192, 196, 48 S. Ct. 74, 72 L. Ed. 231 (1927), "is 
not read literally, because to do so would mea that an officer could never seize 
anything which is not spedfically named in th warrant." State v. Perrone, 119 
Wn.2d 538, 546, 834 P.2d 611 (1992). 

: ' 
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I 
Contrast these holdings with a case cited by Watkins, State v. Garcia, 140 

Wn. App. 609, 622, 166 P. f d 848 (2007). Th1re, the court invalidated a warrant 

that authorized a search of;" 'any and all pers , ns present' " at a motel room that 

was to be searched in relati?n to a drug investi ation. ~ at 616, 623. It reasoned 

that this language was not;limiting and that a eneralized belief that all persons 
I 

present are involved in crim_inal activity is an in ufficient nexus. ~ at 623. Garcia 

does not _support a conclusion that the warrant as overly broad. 

Watkins argues that police were im roperly rummaging through his 
i 

belongings, as evidenced by the personal writi gs that they seized. But, here the 
! 

warrant explicitly directed officers to limit theirs arch to items related to the crime. 

As illustrated in the affidavit~ the detectives kne the crime being investigated, the 

murder of Chou, was directly related to Watkins romantic relationship with his new 

girlfriend. A journal and notes that contain the new girlfriend's name is precisely 
i 

where a detective might re~sonably expect to ind personal notes relevant to the 

crime and motive. As in Reid, the warrant as sufficient to protect against a 

general exploratory search.; It was sufficiently , articular. 

IV. Dismissal of Juror 

I 

I 

' 
Watkins next argues that the trial court e,(ed in dismissing a sitting juror due 

to a conflict, instead of del;ying trial to acco1modate the juror. The trial court 

replaced juror 13 with an alternate juror after jurl r 13 was informed that his mother 

had a medical emergency. · 

A defendant in a criminal case has a ri , ht to be tried by an impartial, 12-

person jury. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 57 , 615, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995). A 
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defendant has no right to b~ tried by a particul r juror or by a particular jury.11 kl 
i 

In cases, like the one here, '.that are expected t • take a considerable time, the trial 

judge may direct the selection of one or more al ernate jurors. !Q,_ CrR 6.5 governs 

the use of alternate jurors. State v. Stanley, 1 0 Wn. App. 312, 315, 85 P.3d 395 
I 

(2004). This court reviews a trial court's d cision to replace a juror with an 

alternate for abuse of disc~etion. State v. As I craft, 71 Wn. App. 444, 461, 859 

P.2d 60 (1993). 

Juror 13 requested to be excused for family medical emergency. The 

defense and the trial court questioned the juror bout the specifics of the situation. 

Juror 13 had power of attorney with respect to is mother who was experiencing a 

I 

medical emergency. After this questioning, the trial court concluded that 

replacement of the juror was . warranted . In shcraft, the court upheld the trial 
I 

I 

court's replacement of a juror who had a plan ed flight to Belgium, and the jury 
; 

' i 
deliberations had been prolonged due to adve e weather. JiL at 461-62. Surely 

the need to attend to this emergency was more pressing than the planned flight in 

Ashcraft. The trial court did 'not abuse its discre ion in determining that the medical 
' 

emergency oJ the juror's mother provided a pro er basis for being excused. 

Watkins proposed a·, brief delay in the roceedings to accommodate the 

juror, rather than dismissing him. Whether th absence of the juror would have 

been very brief could not be: known with certainy. The trial court properly weighed 

11 Relatedly, Watkins suggests that the\_replacement of the juror with the 
alternate juror implicates hi:s constitutional rig~ts. But, Watkins cannot establish 
that seating alternate jurors amounted to a co~stitutional error, because he "has 
no right to be tried by a jury that includes a pa icular juror." State v. Jorden, 103 
Wn. App. 221, 229, 11 P.3d 866 (2000). 
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the impact of a further delay.on the trial. It was ot an abuse of discretion to dismiss 
' 

Juror 13 rather than grant a continuance. 

We affirm. 

WE CONCUR: 

'I 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE S"l!~tE~OJf /V\'.~,~~l~TON 
DIVISION ONE 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, ) 
) 

Respondent, ) 
) 

V. ) 
) 

EZEKIEL JAMES WATKINS, ) 
) 

Appellant. } _____________ ) 

No. 73352-4-1 

ORDER DENYING MOTION 
FOR RECONSIDERATION 

The appellant, Ezekiel Watkins, has filed a motion for reconsideration. A 

majority of the panel has determined that the motion should be denied. 

Now, therefore, it is hereby 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration is denied. 
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